
 CITY OF RICHARDSON 
CITY PLAN COMMISSION MINUTES – MAY 7, 2024 

The Richardson City Plan Commission met on May 7, 2024, at 7:00 p.m. in the Multipurpose 
Room #CH157 of the Richardson City Hall, 2360 Campbell Creek Boulevard, Suite 525, 
Richardson, TX. 

MEMBERS PRESENT: Bryan Marsh, Chairman 
Kenneth Southard, Vice Chairman 
Michael Keller, Commissioner 
Joe Costantino, Commissioner 
Nate Roberts, Commissioner 
Sebrena Bohnsack, Commissioner 
Gary Beach, Commissioner 
Rebecca Poynter, Commissioner 
Byron Purdy, Commissioner 

CITY STAFF PRESENT: Sam Chavez, Director of Development Services 
Keith Krum, Planning Projects Manager 
Amber Pollen, Strategic Planner 
Daniel Herrig, Mobility & Special Projects Manager 
Derica Peters, Senior Planner 
Anna Jo Castaneda, Executive Secretary 

BRIEFING SESSION 
Prior to the start of the regular business meeting, the City Plan Commission met with staff 
regarding staff reports and agenda items. No action was taken. 

REGULAR BUSINESS MEETING 

1. Approval of Minutes of the regular business meeting of April 16, 2024.

Motion: Chairman Marsh made a motion to continue approval of the April 16, 2024, 
minutes until May 21, 2024. Vice Chairman Southard seconded the Motion. 
Motion passed 7-0. 

PUBLIC HEARING 

2. ZF 24-06 Park Hollow: Consider and act on a request to rezone approximately 6.5-acres
located at 545 E. Buckingham Road, on the north side of Buckingham Road, west of Audelia
Road, from O/C Office Commercial to PD Planned Development for a townhome development
with 89-lots. Owner: Sting Soccer Foundation. Staff: Sam Chavez.

Mr. Sam Chavez began by stating zoning file 24-06 is a 6.5-acre property owned by Sting Soccer 
Club. It is currently zoned OC Office/Commercial District as found in the old Town of 
Buckingham zoning ordinance. The applicant’s request is for a Planned Development District 
under the RA-1100-M Residential Attached (Townhome) District of the City’s Comprehensive 
Zoning Ordinance with modified development regulations for an 89-unit townhome development.  

APPROVED



 
 2 
 
 
The proposed buildings are maximum of three (3) stories and not to exceed fifty-five (55) feet in 
height,  with a minimum lot size of 1,496-square feet and minimum unit size is 1,300-square feet.  
The proposal meets the required parking minimums with two (2) parking spaces provided within 
an enclosed garage in each unit and forty-five (45) visitor parking spaces, at a ratio of 0.05 spaces 
per unit. He then brought attention to various site improvements as shown on the proposed concept 
plan. 
 
Mr. Chavez continued by describing the proposed amendments to the RA-1100-M Townhome 
District, including a 22-foot lot width instead of the 25-foot minimum, a 68-foot minimum lot 
depth instead of 70-foot, a 90% lot coverage maximum instead of 75%, a 3-foot front setback 
minimum instead of a 10-foot and a 5-foot side setback minimum instead of 10-foot.  
 
Mr. Chavez then stated that part of the applicant’s request is to allow the development of lots 
without public street frontage. This development will provide private streets, or alleys, in lieu of 
public streets. The private streets will be 24-feet wide or 31-foot-wide private right of ways, fire 
lanes, and access easements, as well as sidewalks provided in the common areas.   
 
Mr. Chavez shared other items to consider, such as the Future Lane Use Plan which designates the 
subject site as Neighborhood Residential which would include a variety of single-family housing 
types. Also, the preliminary review of the stormwater drainage capacity determined a need for 
detention, which is proposed in the area north and adjacent to the site which will also be used as 
an open space amenity for the neighborhood. 
 
Commissioner Costantino reiterated that the type of variances requested have been approved by 
the City before, including allowing the front door access a public area instead of a public street. 
 
Mr. Chavez replied, yes that is correct. 
 
Commissioner Costantino asked if the developer’s and City’s engineers will meet and review the 
stormwater at the time of development. 
 
Mr. Chavez replied that they will review to see if there is the right amount of stormwater drainage 
capacity and fine-tune that study. 
 
Commissioner Purdy asked staff to define off-site stormwater drainage. 
 
Mr. Chavez stated it is an area that will hold and slowly release water over time. This system will 
release stormwater northwest, as opposed to going into the other system that is almost at capacity. 
 
Commissioner Poynter asked if there was a photo of the stormwater drainage system. 
 
Mr. Chavez replied that no it has not been constructed yet. 
 
Commissioner Poynter asked if there is a pedestrian entrance. 
 
Mr. Chavez showed where it is located on the concept plan, where it is next to the emergency 
access gate, which has a Knox box. 

APPROVED



 
 3 
 
 
Commissioner Poynter asked if a bike could be taken through the pedestrian gate. 
 
Mr. Chavez replied yes. 
 
Vice Chairman Southard stated that he has qualms about considering the detention area as both an 
overflow drainage area and as an amenity area, especially since it is not very evident that it is a 
part of this development. 
 
Mr. Chavez explained he would let the applicant describe their plans. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked if the 17% open space provided includes the detention area. 
 
Mr. Chavez answered no. 
 
Commissioner Beach stated he wanted to know how they would mitigate the possibility of it 
becoming an open body of water that creates an area for mosquitoes to breed if it didn’t drain. 
 
Mr. Chavez replied that 80% of the time it would be a dry detention area. 
 
Commissioner Beach responded that he had a hard time visualizing this area as an added feature 
if that was the case. 
 
Commissioner Costantino asked if these site conditions would be like Foxboro Park, which floods 
and is part of a floodplain. 
 
Mr. Chavez explained that the applicant’s engineer can speak to this, but typically that does not 
happen because it releases into a drain inlet and would not reach a peak capacity that flows over 
the embankment. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked why we are not calling the streets “private streets”. 
 
Mr. Chavez said that they can be called private streets, but they will more than likely become 
common areas or easements at platting, due to being owned and maintained by the HOA and 
because it is a gated community. 
 
Chairman Marsh wanted to confirm they will be maintained by the HOA since they are not 
dedicated to the City. 
 
Chavez answered yes, that is correct. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked for more clarification on the implications of the different street terms. 
 
Mr. Chavez explained the Subdivision Ordinance requires lots to have frontage on a public or 
private street, but these aren’t streets as they are platted as easements. 
 
Vice Chairman Southard asked if those streets, or easements, would meet the definition of a street 
as compared elsewhere in the City and does that include the sidewalk. 

APPROVED



 
 4 
 
 
Mr. Chavez responded with no, the City requires 27-feet of pavement, but the development 
proposes a minimum of 24-feet to 31-feet of pavement in addition to providing sidewalks. 
 
Commissioner Costantino commented that theoretically the open space where the units open onto 
could be considered the frontage instead of the easement. 
 
Mr. Chavez replied that is correct. 
 
Commissioner Beach asked staff to further clarify if the HOA be required to set aside a certain 
amount for maintenance of these streets. 
 
Mr. Chavez replied yes. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked why there are no renderings, elevations, or additional details on what the 
buildings will look like. 
 
Mr. Chavez stated the applicant is not at that point yet, but they do have some architectural 
representative drawings. 
 
Chairman Marsh questioned if it was customary for that information to be part of the packet and 
incorporated into the guidelines for approval. 
 
Mr. Chavez informed him that they typically have them if it is ready, but the applicant is not at the 
point where they have their proposed building types and architectural plans. The City has also had 
applicants provide an architectural rendering that is tied to the Ordinance. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked if the parking provided at 2 per unit and visitor parking at 0.05 spaces per 
unit is the standard. 
 
Mr. Chavez answered yes, this meets the standards of the Code. 
 
Chairman Marsh emphasized that normally there is information on driveways, and he asked if 
there would be more parking provided for each unit. 
 
Mr. Chavez stated no, for townhomes there is typically not room for additional parking in a 
driveway, so they have moved the guest parking to be located on the east and west property lines.  
 
Chairman Marsh asked if there are porches or additional open space in front of the buildings. 
 
Mr. Chavez replied they will probably be built 3-feet from that property line to allow for porches 
in front of the building. 
 
Mr. Neil Stenberg, Skorburg Company, 8214 Westchester Drive, Suite 900, Dallas, TX 75225 
described the company’s background and showed examples of similar townhomes projects they 
have developed. He showed a rendering representing the proposed mews open space area. He also 
explained that they reached out to the surrounding residential developments and received no 
response, however, they had a discussion with the learning day care center north of site about the 

APPROVED



 
 5 
 
pond and said they approved of the proposal. He described the vision of the plan and went into 
more detail about proposed site improvements. 
 
Vice Chairman Southard expressed concern that they did not have something to view that would 
represent the vision of this plan. He commented that the other projects referenced were at different 
density and lot sizes, so they aren’t representative of this proposal. 
 
Mr. Stenberg stated that these examples are the representative product, and they are willing to tie 
them into the planned development request.  He also explained the other example was developed 
at a lower density because most of that property was reclaimed floodplain.  
 
Chairman Marsh stated that when he did the math for that example, that would be fifty-five (55) 
units on 4-acres at almost fourteen (14) units per acres. 
 
Mr. Stenberg replied yes, that should be right. 
 
Chairman Marsh stated that it’s similar to this project but asked for clarity on the other example. 
 
Mr. Stenberg answered that the other property also had a detention area. 
 
John Arnold, Partners Company, 8214 Westchester Dr., Suite 900, Dallas explained the similarities 
with the examples. He explained how providing the mews is preferred over a street and should be 
designed with townhomes fronting onto the green open area. He continued to say they discovered 
drainage problems, so they want to create a great amenity while fixing drainage problems.  
 
Chairman Marsh asked if the height of the detention pond was expected to be 10-feet deep. 
 
Mr. Arnold replied, no it was less than this, and it will be designed to be flat, and dry and is 
intended to mitigate major storm events. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked if there was a daycare center west of that property. 
 
Mr. Arnold answered yes. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked if they had any concerns about protecting the daycare children. 
 
Mr. Arnold stated that they discussed the issue with City staff and decided instead of a fenced area 
they would make the slopes gentle. 
 
Chairman Marsh commented he had experience building detention ponds and has seen them fill 
up when clogged. 
 
Mr. Arnold advised that the Homeowner’s Association will be responsible for maintain the 
detention area. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked if they would be building the townhome units. 
 
Mr. Arnold replied that they had a building partner. 

APPROVED



 
 6 
 
 
Chairman Marsh asked if they as the land developer will be selling the lots to the builders. 
 
Mr. Arnold answered that they sell the lots with requirements. 
 
Chairman Marsh commented that it is hard to decide on approval when there are no design details 
provided to back up the proposal. 
 
Mr. Arnold stated they needed to get the zoning approved first.  
 
Mr. Chavez commented that most townhomes meet the same basic architectural standards. 
 
Chairman Marsh noted that the packet did not show any level of detail related to the quality of the 
townhome product. 
 
Mr. Chavez explained that more visual detail about the location of setbacks is provided on the 
concept plans.  There will not be room for parking in the driveway apron as garages are setback 5-
ft from the rear property line and the access easements will be striped as a fire lane. Typically, 
with townhomes, there is not much separation between the street and the building. Also, the 
Commission can vote to include these representative product images that were shown tonight in 
the ordinance. 
 
Chairman Marsh replied that this should also include the renderings for the mews to ensure this 
development will have the same features.  
 
Mr. Arnold confirmed that they can include the representative product showing both. 
 
Commissioner Beach commented that different homes have different sized garage entrances, and 
when built smaller, a larger pickup truck cannot fit.  
 
Mr. Arnold responded that the garages will be 22-feet-wide. 
 
Commissioner Beach asked how deep the garage will be built. 
 
Mr. Arnold replied deep enough for a regular sedan or SUV. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked why there is not a fence or gate shown along the west of the property. 
 
Mr. Arnold responded that there is a row of parking garages on the neighboring property which 
creates a separating wall that they will tie the front fence into. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked why the areas between the buildings are not wide enough for pedestrians.  
 
Mr. Arnold explained they limited pedestrian access here and instead have the access at the end of 
the blocks. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked the applicant to confirm they were comfortable with the parking provided.  
 

APPROVED



 
 7 
 
Mr. Arnold confirmed they have similar parking amounts provided in other communities and they 
haven’t experienced parking issues. 
 
Chairman Marsh brought attention to the location of the visitor parking and explained it may be a 
long walk to some of the townhome units. 
 
Mr. Arnold explained that the proposed parking layout was very typical in other communities. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked if Sting Soccer also owned the detention area property. 
 
Mr. Arnold answered no. 
 
Chairman Marsh commented that the applicant is dealing with two separate parties. 
 
Mr. Arnold replied yes and that is why it has been such a long process. 
 
Chairman Roberts asked who is going manage the operations of the development. 
 
Mr. Arnold answered it will be an HOA company, which is very typical in townhome, and the 
mews and front yards, fences and all exteriors will be maintained by the HOA and paid for through 
a reserve fund. 
 
Commissioner Roberts asked if there is a company the applicant uses.  
 
Mr. Arnold replied they use Neighborhood Management Inc. 
 
Commissioner Beach asked if this was a 55 and older community.  
 
Mr. Arnold answered no. 
 
Commissioner Beach asked the applicant to explain where kids would play. 
 
Mr. Arnold replied with the mews areas provides green space to play. 
 
Commissioner Beach asked to confirm there would not be a playground.  
 
Mr. Arnold replied no but there is there is a 2-acre park area. 
 
Vice Chairman Southard asked if there are other amenities like a clubhouse. 
 
Mr. Arnold replied no, the monthly dues for the HOA to maintain the clubhouse would be too 
much of a burden for the residents. 
 
Chairman Keller asked if the detention area will be irrigated and maintained by the HOA. 
 
Mr. Arnold replied yes. 
 
Commissioner Poynter asked if this area would be designed to accommodate drone deliveries. 

APPROVED



 
 8 
 
 
Mr. Arnold replied yes it would be near the entrance.  
 
Chairman Marsh brought attention to the concept plan and asked if there are 4-6 units per building. 
 
Mr. Arnold replied yes. 
 
Chairman Bohnsack brought attention to the dry detention pond and asked how it would be 
finished out.  
 
Mr. Arnold replied that it is passive open space to play and run. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked what the average size of each unit is. 
 
Mr. Arnold responded that it is an average of 1,600-1,700 square feet. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked if they envisioned 3-stories. 
 
Mr. Arnold replied there will be some 3-stories but more 2-stories.  
 
Chairman Marsh asked if the applicant has an anticipated price range. 
 
Mr. Stenberg responded that they would start in the low 500,000s. 
 
Marsh asked if there would be high quality amenities provided inside. 
 
Mr. Arnold replied yes. 
 
Seeing no one else to speak, Chairman Marsh moved to close the public hearing, Costantino 
seconds, all in favor. 7-0 passes. 
 
Commissioner Constantino suggested they include representative product or renderings. 
 
Vice Chairman Southard explained he has a problem with not knowing what the development will 
look like. 
 
Chairman Marsh commented he had concerns for visitor parking, but they meet the minimum 
required by Code, and he understands market forces may dictate how much is provided. 
 
Mr. Chavez stated that City staff worked with the applicant to create the proposed layout, and since 
this is a gated community, the HOA can police the parking.  
 
Chairman Marsh commented he felt this type of missing middle housing and infill development is 
appropriate in this area. He expressed concern with the proximity of the day care and the detention 
pond and there should be more precautions taken for this area. 
 

APPROVED



 
 9 
 
Mr. Chavez responded that they would continue fine tuning the detention pond facility.  He also 
explained why staff did not include the representative images in the exhibits, but they can be 
included going forward.  
 
Motion: Chairman Marsh a motion to recommend approval of ZF 24-06 with inclusion of 
representative renderings of the buildings and the mews as presented by the applicant. Seconded 
by Commissioner Constantino.  Motion Passed 6-1 (Opposed by Vice Chairman Southard). 
 
3. ZF 24-09 Comprehensive Zoning Ordinance Text Amendment - Bicycle Parking 

Standards: Consider and act on a City-initiated amendment to Article XXII-D (Parking) of 
the Comprehensive Zoning Ordinance (Appendix A) by renaming Article XXII-D Vehicle and 
Bicycle Parking, amending Section 2. to provide bicycle parking standards and renaming 
Section 3. Variances. Staff: Daniel Herrig. 

 
Daniel Herrig, City of Richardson Transportation and Mobility Department, began by stating the 
proposed CZO amendments further the City Council’s 2023-2025 Strategic Goal to value, protect 
and create a positive return on City, resident, and other stakeholder investments in the City. 
Adopting a bicycle parking ordinance is an important step to advance City Council’s goal to 
become more bike-friendly and work toward reaching silver-level Bicycle Friendly Community 
status. The Active Transportation Plan (ATP) was adopted to set up short-term and long-term goals 
for the City’s active transportation network, including Citywide bicycle parking regulations. Mr. 
Herrig continued by sharing individual and community benefits to bicycle parking standards.  
 
Mr. Herrig explained how the proposal addresses different types of bicycle parking conditions and 
development types and explained the design elements of different bike storage options.  He then 
elaborated on requirements within the proposed ordinance. As proposed, one (1) bicycle parking 
space per twenty (20) vehicle parking spaces are required to be provided. He stressed this is based 
on how many vehicle spaces are provided and not just required. There is also an alternate 
compliance section. He concluded by sharing recent development examples and asked for 
consideration to recommend approval of this proposed CZO Text Amendment as part of the Article 
XXII-D of the Comprehensive Zoning Ordinance as presented. 
 
Commissioner Purdy stated he was interested to understand the long-term parking and asked if it 
is for overnight use or will there be citizens looking to park for a month in a secure, public 
place.  
 
Mr. Herrig replied that they were recommending long-term bike parking for apartments so it 
could be limited to residents who may need storage longer. Generally, short-term parking is 
defined as two (2) hours or less versus long-term parking which is two (2) hours or more.  
 
Commissioner Purdy reiterated that it would not be available for a non-resident. 
 
Mr. Herrig said that is correct because the storage is usually located in an area that is not open to 
the general public. 
 
Vice Chairman Southard asked if this ordinance would be effective immediately. 
 

APPROVED



 
 10 
 
Mr. Herrig replied that it would be effective upon adoption by City Council and would apply to 
future development. 
 
Vice Chairman Southard wanted to confirm that major developments and changes to buildings 
would trigger inclusion of this requirement.  
 
Mr. Chavez confirmed yes and cited the language of Article XXII-D Parking that states all new 
construction or expansions which affect the required vehicle parking will provide bicycle parking 
as required by this ordinance. 
 
Chairman Marsh clarified he is pro-bicycle, but the amendment is hard to understand, and it seems 
like overkill on the amount of parking required. He asked if the total amount of parking required 
will be defined in the design manual. 
 
Mr. Herrig confirmed yes it will and explained the typical size is 6 to 8-feet long and 3-feet wide. 
 
Chairman Marsh stated that long-term bicycle parking examples were presented that show a shelter 
or in an enclosed locked room, but he isn’t sure this fits the picture he was showing.   
 
Mr. Herrig explained long-term parking is an enhanced feature, and the parking design manual 
will have additional details on how long-term parking can be designed. 
 
Chairman Marsh commented there are inconsistencies in the proposal that may create 
misunderstandings.  
 
Mr. Herrig stated this would not prohibit long-term parking, the City is just not going to require it 
in all areas. It depends on what the developer wants to provide.  
 
Chairman Marsh commented that the requirements may be targeted to different development types, 
but the developer may have a different interpretation based on the way it is worded. He also asked 
why bicycle parking must be at the front of the building.  
 
Mr. Herrig responded that the language may need to be modified, but the intent is that it is at the 
main entrance of the building. 
 
Chairman Marsh continued by explaining he had a problem with one (1) bike space per twenty 
(20) vehicle spaces which suggests that five percent (5%) of the population will ride their bike 
rather than drive their car, and he asked if there is data available to support the need for this amount. 
 
Mr. Herrig stated they do not have that data, but this number is lower than what is required in peer 
cities and gave some examples. 
 
Commissioner Costantino suggested there should be flexibility determined by the property 
location and type of use. He also commented that it wouldn’t be too much of a burden to provide 
the required amount of bicycle parking spaces, even in examples like the parking lot of around 400 
vehicle spaces that was recently brought before the Commission.   
 

APPROVED



 
 11 
 
Chairman Marsh asked for confirmation of his calculation of how the proposed ratio would apply 
to different developments. In one example, a building like State Farm at CityLine would require 
200 bicycle parking spaces, however he doesn’t see this type of demand for this parking. 
 
Mr.  Chavez explained the City must start encouraging and enabling bicyclists by ensuring these 
facilities are provided. And in cases where the required amount is considered excessive, there is a 
provision that may allow alternate compliance.  
 
Chairman Marsh stated his support for the city attempting to achieve the silver level Bicycle 
Friendly Community status and supports bicycle uses. He continued to say there just does not seem 
to be the demand for that many bicycle parking spaces. 
 
Commissioner Costantino asked about the requirements to satisfy the silver level status. 
 
Mr. Herrig stated that every City may have a different criterion based on context. In our region, 
we tie the bike parking to vehicle parking because that is already an established ratio based on 
development type. 
 
Chairman Marsh suggested it was more appropriate to apply a ratio of 1/200 instead. He continued 
to say the ordinance would offer an alternative compliance option, and asked who is defined as 
Director in that provision. 
 
Mr. Herrig responded that is the Director of Development Services. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked if there were any further questions or if there was anyone who would want 
to speak in favor or opposition to the request.  
 
Matthew Martin, 1415 Ridgemoor Ln, Richardson, TX, spoke in support of the proposal and 
explained before going to a destination he seeks out information on bike parking in advance, so 
this proposal would be a step in the right direction to have bike parking available at your 
destination.  
 
Commissioner Poytner asked if it were too basic to just require (1) bicycle rack per development.  
 
Mr. Herrig stated it is written as a minimum of one (1) bicycle rack with two (2) bikes in the space 
per development, and it scales up from there. 
 
Commissioner Costantino asked if the Commission wanted to redirect this for redraft. 
 
Mr. Herrig commented that a directive has been given to move toward an updated, silver level 
Bike Friendly Community status, and the application is due June 25, so there would be an impact 
if the ordinance is not adopted on this timeline. 
 
Chairman Marsh expressed that he is not in favor of the ordinance as presented. 
 
With no further questions of the applicant or staff, Chairman Marsh asked if anyone wanted to 
speak in favor or opposition to the request.  Seeing none, Chairman Marsh closed the public 
hearing and asked for further comment or a motion from the Commission. 

APPROVED



 
 12 
 
 
 Motion: Commissioner Beach made a motion to recommend approval of the 
   request as presented.  Commissioner Bohnsack seconded the motion. 

Motion passed 5-2 (Chairman Marsh and Commissioner Keller opposed) 
      
ADJOURNED 
With no further business before the Commission, Chairman Marsh adjourned the regular business 
meeting at 9:07 p.m. 
 
 
 
      
Bryan Marsh, Chairman 
 

APPROVED




